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A Precursor of 
Modem Communications Intelligence 

BY EDWIN C. FISHEL 
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The years 1861~7 saw the Unit.ed Statell facing one of the ~verest 
international problems in its history: an Austrian prince ruled Mexico 
and a French army occupied the south bank of the Rio Grande. It 
was towvd the end of this period that the Atlantic cable went into 
permanent operation. Thua the Unit.ed Statell had both the motive 
and the meana for what was almost certainly its first essay in peace­
time communications intelligence.• 

The nation bad emerged from the Civil War p<>MeSSing a respectable 
intelligence capability. Union eepionage activities were generally suc­
cessful, especially in the later stages of the war; Northern communica­
tions men read Confederate messages with considerable regularity (and 
received reciprocal treatment of their own traffic from the rebel signal­
men); and there were intelligence staffs that developed a high degree 
of competence in digesting and reporting these findings.' 

With the war over in 1866, this new capability was turned against 
Napoleon III and bis puppet, Emperor Maximilian of Mexico. In the 
struggle to get the French anny-out of North America and Maximilian 
off his throne, this govemment had the use of an intelligence enterprise 
which, though conduct.ed on a small scale, turned out tO be very effec­
tive. Competent reporting by espionage agents and diplomatic repre­
sentatives conatitut.ed this effort up to the last weeks, but when a 
crisia developed at that point, these aoun:es were silent, and it was a 
cablegram from Napoleon to his commanders in Mexico that yielded 
the information needed by the nation's leaders. 

•No earlier 11118 of eommun!cationa lntelllsenoe by the United States In i-oettme 
la known to the writer. Any reader who knowa of one ill urred to come forward. 

1 All numbancl footnote.-lncludinr the one that would ot.herwlae appear here­
baw been colleeted on pp. 28-29. 
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As an intelligence coup the interception· and reading of this message 
were hardly spectacular, for it passed over fifteen hundred miles of tele­
graph wire accessible to United States forces and, contrary t.o later as­
sertions that it was deciphered, it appears to have been sent in the clear. 
Nevertheless, the event was an outstanding one in the history of United 
States intelligence operations, not simply because it represented a begin­
ning in a new field but also because the mes.sage in question was of 
crucial imp0rtance. 

The crisis in which America's intelligence capability asserted itseif 
did not come until after the nation had passed five anxious years in 
watching the European threat develop. 

Napoleon bad sent an army to Mexico late in 1861 .• assertedly to 
compel the pa'.Yment of huge debts owed by the government of Mexico. 
His object, however, was not simply a financial one : a new commander 
whom he sent to Mexico in 1863 received instructions (which leaked 
into the Pl'l!M) to the effect that the Emperor's plirpose was to establish 
a Mexican government strong enough to limit " the growth and prestige 
of the United States."• At a time when the American Union appeared. 
to be breaking up under pressure from its southern hall, such a state­
ment meant to American readers that Napoleon had no intention of 
stopping at the Rio Grande. · 

In June 1863 French arms swept the Liberal government of President 
Benito Juflrez from Mexico City, and the Gallic invaders proceeded 
with the salvation of his tormented country. Blithely unmindful of 
the republican tendencies of the .Mexicans, but very mindful of the pre­
occupation of their Washington friends with other matters, Napoleon 
began to cast about for someone who could head a Mexican monarchy. 
In the summer of 1864 he installed the Archduke Ferdinand Maximil­
ian, thirty-two-year-old brother of Emperor Franz Joseph of Austria, 
on the new throne of Mexico. 

Maximilian possessed an ability to rule that was as limited as·the 
Imperial understanding that had made him a ruler. He quickly found 
hiilll!elf the pawn ·or a small local faction and a prisoner of the French, 
on -whom he was utterly dependent for support, both financial and mili­
tary.' Hi., pomp and parade won the hearts of thousands of Mexicans, 
but his regime skidded rapidly toward political and financial ruin.• 

During this period the Northern people, their belligerence aroused by 
the Southern rebellion, were clamoring for action against France-­
action that could eailily bring disaster upon them. Aggressive behavior 
by the United .Stat.es might give Napoleon the popular support he 
needed to join hands with the Confederacy in a declaration or war, a 
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development that might .well provide Secession With enough extra 
strength to prevail. That a French compact with the Confederates 
did not materialize was due principally to the acumen and the courage 
of the Federal Secretary of State, William H. Seward. Seward's political 
skill produced a maximum effect in diplomatic pressure on the French, 
and by virtue of his tremendous prestige he was able to neutralize the 
passions of Congress and the public.• · 

By the time. the Civil War was over, the government had reason to 
believe that Napoleon had become disenchanted with his puppets in 
Mexico. Seward was now ready to turn his people's aggressive de-' 
meanor to advantage, and he warned Napoleon that their will would 
sooner or later prevail. · Before this statement reached Paris, however, 
the United States Minister there, John Bigelow, who had been mirror­
ing Seward's new firmness for some months, had in September 1865 
obtained a tentative statement from the French that they intended to 
withdraw from Mexico.' 

While Bigelow was shaking an admonitory finger at the French 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, an American military fist was being dis­
played. before the French along the Rio Grande. Promptly upon the 
silencing of Confederate guns, General Grant sent Philip Sheridan, 
second only to William T. Sherman in the esteem of the General-in­
Chief, to the command of the Department of the Gulf, with head­
quarters at New Orleans. A considerable force was posted along the 
Mexican frontier and designated an "army of observation." 

Sheridan, thirty-four years . old and the possessor or a reputation as 
a gamecock, adhered strongly to an opinion prevalent in the Army 
that a little forceful military action now would save a full-scale war 
Tater. The audacious statesman who was directing foreign policy at 
Washington was, to Sheridan, "slow and poky," and the general found 
ways of giving considerable covert aid to the Juarez government, then 
leading a nomadic existence in the north of Mexico.' . Sheridan and 
Seward, though· the policy of each was anathema to the other, made 
a most effective combination. · 

One of the ways in which Sheridan c<iuld exercise his relentless energy 
against the Imperialists without flouting Seward's policy was by col­
lecting intelligence on what was going on below the border. There 
was an interregnum at 'the United States Legation in Mexico City, and 
all the official news reaching Washington from below the Rio Grande 
was that supplied by the Juarist Minister to the United States, Matias 
Romero, a prolific source though scarcely an unbiased one.• . Sheridan 
quickly undertook to fill the gap. 

This task must have been decidedly to the general's .taste, for he had 
been one of the most intelligence-conscio\ls commanders in the Civil 
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War.• He had achieved something of an innovation in organizing in­
telligence activities when, during his 1864 campaign in the Shenandoah 
Valley, he established a group of intelligence operatives under military 
control. His previous sources of information, local citizens and Con­
federate deserters, had both proved unreliable. "Sheridan's Scouts" 
were a military organization in a day when it was customary to have 
civilians perform most of the intelligence-gathering tasks other than 
battle-zone reconnaissance, The Scouts did not distinguish them­
selves for their ability to keep track of the Confederate guerrillas, who 
were a constant worry to Sheridan in his Valley canipaign, 10 but they 
appear to have done good work against slower-moving targets. · 

After the war, Major Henry Harrison Young, the Scouts' commander, 
anc:I four of his best men went to the Gulf Department with Sheridan. 
One of the four was Sergeant James White, the man who had set the 
stage for the final scene of the hostilities in the eastern theater when, 
moving ahead of the. retreating Confederates, he discovered a con­
centration of supplies awaiting them at an obscure county seat named 
Appomattox." 

Sheridan also, in common with numerous other commanders North 
and South, had an acquaintance with communications intelligence as 
it was produced in the field command of that day. By the time the 
Civil War was well advanced, Signal Corpsmen in every theater had 
learned how to solve the enemy's visual-signaling alphabets, and they 
derived much information for the commanders by keeping their field 
glasses trained on enemy signal statiorui. 12 There was not likely to be 
any opportunity for such methods along the Rio Grande, however, 
and no more likely W8{I the possibility of tapping telegraph lines carry­
ing useful information. 

Young and .his four men were dispatched to important points in 
northern Mexico to· report on movements of the Imperial forces and 
the various· projects of ex-Confederates who were joining Maximilian's 
forces and attempting to establish colonies under his flag." Judged by 
the accuracy of the reports reaching Sheridan and the strong tendency 
of the Southerners' projects to abort after coming under his notice, the 
work of these five men was most effective." 

The critical question-whether the French would tire oftheir venture 
and withdraw-was, however, one to which no intelligence service 
could divine an answer, for the French for a long time did not know 
the answer themselves. In 1865 Marshal Francois Achille Bazaine, 
.now Napoleon's commander in Mexico, was informed by the Minister 
of War that he must bring the army home, and at about the same 
time he received word to the opposite effect from the Emperor himself." 
Napoleon's treaty with Maximilian by which the latter accepted the 

~ throne of Mexico contained a secret clause providing that French mili-
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tary forces to the number of 20,000 were to remain in Mexico until 
November 1867." As events were to prove, however, this compact 
was less likely to determine Napoleon's course of action than were the 
pressures on him represented by the United States' vigorous diplomacy 
and the rising military power of Prussia. 

In April 1866 Minister Bigelow succeeded in pinning Napoleon down 
to a definite understanding, to the effect that tpe 28,000 French soldiers 
in Mexico would be brought home in three detachments, leaving in 
November 1866 and March and November 1867. Seward's reply to 
this promise was characteristic of his tone at this time: dwelling only 
briefly on the diplomatic niceties, he suggested that the remaining period 
of occupation be shortened if possible. The Secretary was in high 
feather; in the same month a protest by him Was inducing the Austrian 
government to abandon an effort to send substantial reinforcements to 
the small Austrian force in Maximilian's army." 

But no sooner had Washington begun to breathe easily than one 
of Sheridan's agents reported that the French were advancing more 
troops into the frontier area and extending their occupation. When 
Bigelow asked the Foreign Minister for an explanation of French move­
ments, however, he was quickly convinced that although a new ship­
ment had arrived in Mexico, its members were replacements rather 
than additions." 

Attention now focused on Maximilian-on the question whether he 
would attempt to hold his throne without French arms; In June he 
received a studiously insolent letter from Napoleon containing the stun­
ning announcement that the French would withdi-aw. The unhappy 
sovereign in Mexico City reacted first by dispatching his Empress, 
twenty-six-year-old Carlota, to Paris in a vain attempt to change 
Napoleon's mind." Sheridan here made one of his rare errors in inter­
preting the Mexican situation, reporting to Washington that Carlota 
was abandoning Mexico and seeing this action as the first stage in a 
general stampede. He had learned from his agents that once again 
the French were pulling out of much of northern Mexico. His informa­
tion was correct, but the movements bore no relation to Carlota's mis­
sion. They were made on Bazaine's orders, without consultation with 
Maximilian. 

Maximilian agreeably decided to abdicate, then determined to remain 
on his throne, then wavered for many weeks between abdicatirig and 
remaining.'" 

Napoleon meanwhile had to contend not only with his proteg~'s in­
decision but with some apparent recalcitrance on the part of Bazaine, 
who was variously suspected of having a secret agreement with Maxi­
milian to remain in the latter's support, of being secretly in league with 
the Mexican Liberals, of profiting financially from his official position, 
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and. of having -hopes of suet:eeding Maximilian. (There is evideiiee to 
support all these suspicions.)" Soon Napoleon realized he had made a 
bad bargain with the United States; to attempt to bring the army home 
in three parts would risk .the annihilation of the last third. Early in 
the autumn of 1866 the . Emperor sent his milit.ary aide, General 
Castelnau, to Mexico with instructions to have the army ready to leave 

· in 0ne shipment in March, and to supersede Baz.aine if necessary. 
Thus the evacuation was to begin four months later than Napoleon had 
promised, but to end eight months earlier.11 

No word of this important about-face was, however, promptly passed 
to the United States government. At the beginning of November­
supposedly the month for the first shipment-the best information 
this country's leaders possessed was a strong indication tha~ Napoleon 
intended to rid himself of Maximilian. This was contained in a letter 
written to Maximilian by a confidential agent whom he had sent to Eu­
rope; it showed the failure of Carlota's visit to Napoleon. Somewhere 
between its j>oint of origin, Brussels, and its destination, the office of 
Maximilian's consul in New York, it had fallen into the hands of a 
Juarist agent." Soon after Minister Romero placed it ·in Seward's 
hands on October 10, Napoleon's new Foreign Minister, the Marquis 
de Moustier, wrote bis Minister, de Montholon, in Washington that 

· the evacuation timetable was raising serious difficulties, but that in 
no case Would the November 1867 deadline for its completion be eJt­
ceeded:" This note should have reached Sewatd in early November 
(1866), but if it did, its strong hint that there would be no partial 
evacuation in that month was apparently loot on him. 

When the French felt able to promise eomplete withdrawal in March, 
de Moustier revealed to Bigelow the abandonment of the three-stage 
plan. So a\anned was Bigelow by the prospects of a major out­
break of anti-French feeling in America that he refrained from 
sending the news to Seward until he had .heard it from the Emperor 
himself, whom he saw on November 7. The November shipment had 
been cancelled for reasons purely military, the Emperor said, showing 
surprise that the United States had not known of the change. The 
order had been telegraphed to Bazaine and had .been sent in the clear 
in order that " no secret might be made of its .tenor in the United 
States.'"' Such straightforward deviousness was entirely in character 
with Louis Napoleon, the ruler who bad. made conflicting promises to 
Maximilian and to the United States and had now broken both of 
them, and who had set Castelnau to report on Bazaine, as Bazaine had 
reported on his own predecessors." Undoubtedly the Emperor was 
perfectly sincere in implying that he expected the United States gov­
ernment to make itself a tacit "information addressee" on telegrams 
of foreign governments reaching its territory. 
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Receiving Bigelow's report of this interview, Seward struck off a 
peremptory cablegrain to Paris: tlie United States "can not acqui­
esce," he declared. Tbe 774 words of this mE!llSage were unfolded be­
fore Bigelow on November 26 and 'l:l, their transmission having cost 
the State Department some $13,000. On December 3 Bigelow tel~ 
graphed the Foreign Minister's assurance that military considerations 
alone were responsible for the change of plarui and his promise, some­
what more definite than the previous one, that the French "eorps of 
occupation is to embark in the month of March next;'"' 

So strongly had this government relied on Napoleon's original prom­
ise. that President Johnson had dispatched an important diplomatic 
mission to Mexico (republican Mexioo, that is)-a mis.9ion that was 
already at sea, expecting, on arrival at Vera Cruz, to find tbe French 
leaving and Juarez resuming the reins of government. The mission 
collllisted of ex-Senator Lewis D. Campbell, newly appointed Minister 
to Mexico, and General William T . Sherman, sent with Campbell to 
give the mission prestige, to advise Ju§.rez in regard to the many 
military problems that would be plaguing him, and possibly to arrange 
for the use of small numbers· of United States troops to assist Juarez 
by temporarily occupying certain island fort.s.u 

Evidence was accumulating that Maximilian and his foreign troops 
would soon be gone from Mexico," but it stood no chance of general 
acceptance in Washington. Such was the degree Of trust now acc:iord­
ed Louis Napoleon that his promise to evacuate Mexieo would be be­
lieved on the day when the last French soldier took ship at Vera Cruz. 

At this juncture Sheridan's headquarters eame into possession of a 
copy of a coded telegram to Napoleon from Bazaine and Cast.elnau. 
The message bad left Mexico City by courier on December 3 and bad 
been deliv-ered to tbe French Consulate at New Orleans, whence it was 
telegraphed to Paris on the 9th. As will be exi)lained below, there is 
every reason to believe that this message went unread by United 
St.ates cryptographers. The possession of its. contents would have 
been of great value, for the message (as quoted by Castelnau's biog­
rapher) said: 

New Orleans, 9 Dec 1866 

To Bls Majesty the Emperor Napoleon at Paris. 

Mexico, 8rd Deoomber. 

Emperor Maximilian appears to wi•h to remain in Mexico, but we 
mUBt not count on it. Sinoe the evacuation is to be completed in 
March, it is urgent that the transports arrive. ·w e think that the for· 
eijrn regiment must also be emb&rked. As for the Fnnch oflioen and 
soldieT. attached to the Mexican Col']lO, can they be allowed the option 
ol returning7 

13 ~ONfilPEffffAL . 



D ~.!?:.: .... 3 ~~.Q-~_ ~~"ODERN COMlNT 
\-VI~ rl\.~VUl\.OUJ'\. u.r J.YJ. 

The country is restless. The Campbell and Sherman mission, 
which arrived off Vera Cruz on November 29 and left D°""mber 3, -ma 
disJ)Olled_to a peaceful solution. Nevertheless it.give& moral support to 
the Juarists through the statement ol the Federal Government, 

. Marshal Bazaine and General Caotelnau" 

As December wore on, rumblings from ·Capitol Hill indicated that 
Congress- the same Congress that was even then moving to impeach 
President Johnson-might attempt tO i.ake the management of the en­
tire affair out of the AdminiStration's hands. Word · arrived from 
Bigelow that transports to bring the army home were ready to sail 
from French ports, but that information would be by no means convinc­
ing enough to reassure Washington. And that word was the last to 
be heard from Bigelow, as competent a reporter as he was a diplo­
matist. He was relieved as Minister by John Adams Dile, ex-senator, 
ex-general, who did not manage to turn his hand to report-writing un­
til mid-February, after the crisis was past." 

Similarly, nothing that would clarify the situation was coming out of 
Mexico. General Grant received a report from Sherman, at Vera 
Cruz, containing two items of intelligence, highly significant and com­
pletely contradictory: two ships, waiting at Vera Cruz to take Maxi­
milian home, had been loaded with tremendous quantities of royal 
baggage; and the Emperor had just issued a proclamation to the 
Mexican people announcing his intention to remain. Sherman and 
Campbell were facing a dilemma, in that they could not reach Juarez 
without crossing territory held by the Imperialists, with whom they 
were supposed to have nothing to do. Sherman invited Grant to in­
struct him to ·go to Mexico City to see Bazaine, who, ·he was sure, 
would tell him the truth about French intentions, but nothing crune of 
this sugge<ition. Wrote the general of the colorful pen and the fervid 
dislike of politics: "I am as anxious to find Juarez as Japhet was to 
find his father, that I may dispose of this mission.'"' 

Tension mounted in Washington early in J~nuary as the Senate pre­
pared for a debate on the Mexican question and a . wide variety of 
reports circulated, the most ominous being tliat half of the French 
forces were to remain in Mexico through the summer, and that Assis­
tant Secretary of State Frederick W. Seward, who had sailed mysteri­
ously from Annapolis on Christmas day, was on his way to see Na­
poleon. (He was en route to the West Indies on one of his father's 
projects for tbe purchase of territory.)" But on January 12, before 
the Senate got around to the Mexican question, the War Department 
received a .mes&age from Sheridan at New Orleans, containing the 
following: 
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Paris Jany I 0th 

French Consul New Orleans 
for General"C&Btielnau( at MeJrico. 

R"""ived your dispatch of the ninth December. Do not compel 
the Emperor to abdicate, but do not delay the departu?e of the troops; 
bring back all thoae who will not remain there. Most of the fleet has 
lelt. . 

(Siirned) NAPOLEON. 

Here now was a conclusive answer to both of the pressing questions, 
the French evacuation and Maximilian's future. . The entire French 
force must be leaving; else there would scarcely be a question of com- · 
pelling Maximilian to abdicate. And with the French gone, Maxi­
milian, even if he remained firm in hiS decision to keep the throne, 
could hardly stand against the rising Liberals very long. The Euro­
pean threat to American soil could be considered virtually at an end. 

Because of the historical importance attaching to the interception 
of this message and the Mexico-to-Paris message of a month earlier, 
the circumstances surrounding the interception are worth examining. 

The two telegrams owed their existence to the successful installa­
tion of the Atlantic cable only a few inonths before. The cable's own 
history went back to August 1867, when the first attempt to lay it 
ended in failure. A year later a connection was completed and the 
cable was operated for eleven weeks before it went dead, apparently 
because the use of a very high voltage had broken down the insulation. 
Renewal of the attempt awaited the development of better electrical 
techniqueil and the end of the Civil War. . In 1865 a new cable was 
laid from Valentia, Ireland, but was lost six hundred miles short of 
Newfoundland. Another cable was started July 13, 1866, and brought 
ashore at HeMt's Content, Newfoundland, on July 27. The ill­
starred steamer <ffeat Eastern, which laid it, then picked up the bur-

. ied end of the 1866 cable and. ran a second line to Newfoundland. 
Service to the public opened August 26.' • 

Thns Napoleon's September message to Bazaine passed after the 
permanent operation of a telegraph line across the Atlantic had been 
a reality for only a few weeks, and it must be conceded that the United 
States' entry into the business of intercepting intercontinental tele­
grams a few months later was reasonably prompt-despite Napoleon's 
opinion to the contrary. 

Although the first interception took place only a month after the 
French Emperor had virtually invited this government to read his 
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mail, it appears that that "invitation" had nothing to do with it. 
The author of the intercept scheme, in all probability, was General 
Sheridan, and it is highly unlikely that Napoleon's remarks would 
have been communicated· to him. In any case, no instructions for 
surveillance of the telegraph lines to obtain· French messages apPeaf 
in the correspondence ·to the Gulf Department from Army Head­
quarters." 

Years later Sheridan explained how the job was done: his telegraph 
operator and cipher clerk, Charles A. Keefer, one of the numerous 
Canadians who entered the Union and Confederate telegraph services, 
had succeeded in "getting possession of the telegraph and managing 
[a] secret line,"" which presumably connected his office with the West­
ern Union wires in New Orleans. 

Keefer's "secret line" was probably not so remarkable a thing as 
Sheridan's cryptic account makes it seem, for there was a high degree 
of integration between the Military Telegraph system to which he be­
longed and the commercial system over which the messages passed. 
Throughout the occupied areas of.the South during and after the Civil 
War, the Military Telegraph service took over commercial (including 
railroad) telegraph facilities wherever they existed. These Military 
Telegraph offices accepted commercial as well as government business, 
and commercial offices of course sent and received thousands of mili­
tary telegrams; many a telegraph circuit had a military office at one 
terminus and a commercial office at the ·other. As the Reconstruction 
period advanced, this integration became even closer; when the wires 
were returned to the use of the companies that owned them, Military 
Telegraph officers remained on duty in order to take care of govern­
ment business and exercise a loose kind of supervision over the com­
mercial· operations. At some places military and commercial opera­
tors worked side by side. 

This military-commercial integration went all the way to the top of 
the two telegraph systems. The Military Telegraph chiefs were drawn 
from the telegraph industry, and General Thomas T. Eckert, who had 
been the second-ranking member and active head of the Military 
Telegraph service, continued to be closely connected with it after be­
coming Assistant Secretary of War in 1866. At the period now under 
study, Eckert was apparently occupying his War Department position 
and at the same time resuming his activities in the industry as Eastern . 
Division superintendent for Western Union at New York." 

That New Orleans was one of the places where military and com­
mercial operators worked in the same office is suggested by the fact 
that Keefer's copies of the French telegrams were written on Western 
Union message blanks. If, however, the military and commercial 
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offices were located separately, they were nevertheless using the same 
wires for communication with distant points, which arrangement 
would have made it comparatively easy for Keefer to tap in on Western 
Union messages. 

Sheridan also credited Keefer with having solved the French "ci­
pher,"" ·but there is strong evidence to contradict him: 

1. The amount of material Keefer could have had to work with 
was very small. The cable in its early years was used very sparingly 
because of the very high tolls (note the $1979;25 charge, in gold, that 
the French Consulate paid. for the December 3/9 message). Thus 
Paris was still awaiting word from Castelnau at the end of November, 11 

although he had been in Mexico nearly two months. The only 
French messages referred to in any of the documents examined in the 
present study .are the cleartext message that Napoleon said he sent 
Bazaine in September, 4o the message of December 3/9, and the mes­
sage of January 10. Accordingly, as the January message (to be dis­
cussed in detail below) was almost certainly sent in the clear, it is 
highly. probable that the December 3/9 message from Bazaine and 
Castelnau to Napoleon was the only encrypted French telegram that 
passed between Mexico and France during the entire period of the 
French intervention." It is extremely unlikely that the code-for 
the message was in code and not cipher-could have been solved from 
this one message of eighty-eight groups. 

!l. Furthermore, an examination of all available United States 
records that could reasonably be expected to contain such an item 
(if it existed) fails to uncover a decrypted version of the message or 
any other evidence that the government during the ensuing weeks 
had come into possession of the information it contained." 

Somewhat surprising is the apparent fact that Sheridan did not send 
the message to the War Department cryptographers for study. On 
several occasions during the Civil War, these men had been able to 
read enemy messages referred to them. This experience (so far as it is 
recorded) was, however, limited to the solution of mon6alphabetic ci­
phers and Vigen6-e Squares," and the French code would have pre­
sented them with a strange and much more difficult problem. Union 
cryptographers at New Orleans had also once solved an intercept in 
the Vigenere cipher," a fact which may have induced Sheridan to rely 
on his headquarters' own capability and not tum to Washington. 

It was the January 10 message from Napoleon, the only message 
mentioned in Sheridan's account of this episode, that the general said 
Keefer had solved. But there is· every reason to believe that the 
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French clear text of this message (see page 24) is the message as re­
ceived in New Orleans, and not a decrypted version of that message. 

Note: 
1. The message heading. ft is filled out in precisely the way that 

was standard procedure in telegraphic reception at that period. A 
considerably different format was used for the delivery of plaintext 
versions of friendly messages received in cipher, and since Keefer was 
also a Military Telegraph cipher clerk, be would probably have used 
that format or a similar one in writing up the plain text of a foreign 
encrypted meilsage. (This format is illustrated by the photostat (on 
page 26) of the decrypted version of Sheridan's January 12 message, 
of which Napoleon's message of the 10th was a part.) 

2. The difficulties that the writer of the words on page 24 had with 
French spellings (Castelnau, cllcembre,forcez, al!diquer, nMires). These 
are the difficulties of a telegraph operator receiving in a strange lan­
guage rather than those of a decoder in transcribing from his work­
sheet. Furthermore, the person who solved the Frerich code (if it 
was solved) would have had to read French; and the number of cryp­
tographers even at a major headquarters was so small in that day that 
a decoder and a transcriber would surely have been the same person. 

ln addition to · the above evidence, there is the extreme unlikelihood 
that this message added to the earlier one would have given Keefer 
enough material to have solved the code. There is also reason to be­
lieve, from Napoleon's statement to Bigelow regarding the message he 
sent Bazaine in September, that political considerations might well 
have induced the Emperor to send this message through the United 
States in the clear. 

ln any caiie, whatever it was that Keefer's feat consisted of, it made 
Sheridan profoundly grateful, for he awarded the ~legrapher a $1600 
bonus." 

Rare indeed is the single intelligence item that is at once so impor­
tant and so unmistakable in meaning as the intercept of January 10. 
l ts effect on events, however, can only be estimated, for no reference 
to it appears in the records of the developments that followed. 

On the 17th the French Minister came to Seward proposing that 
France and the United States enter into an agreement for the govern­
ing of Mexico during the period that would follow the departure of the 
French troops. France's only stipulation was that the interim gov­
ernment exclude Juarez. The United States, having consistently pur­
sued a policy (){recognition of Jufu-ez and nonrecognition of Maximil­
ian, could never have voluntarily accepted such a proposal. And 
since southern Texas was well garrisoned with troops remaining from 
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the magnificent ~Y. that had subdued the Con.federacy, involuntary 
acceptance was hkeW1S0 out of the question. But Seward might rea­
sonably have entertained the proposal and then engaged in time-<:on­
surning negotiations, awaiting news Crom Mexico that the French were 
gone. Instead, he dismiased Napoleon's Minister with little ceremo­
ny;" his firmness probably stemmed largely from knowledge that the 
French withdrawal was already well adV11nced and the Emperor's pro-

. posal could only be an effort to save face. 
The ~fl'ect t~at Sheri?an's communications-intelligence enterprise 

had on mternat1onal affaU'S, then, was probably this : it did not induce 
a change in policl'. or any other positive action, but it materially helped 
the government nde out a dangerous situation simply by sitting tight. 
. The ~dminis~tion's domestic position, however, was as weak as its 
mtemat1onal position was strong. When the Senate on the 15th got 
around to its foreign-policy debate, an earnest effort was made to em­
~ the . Administra~on (although the threatened attempt to take 
fore1~ po~1cy out of its hands did not materialize). The debate 
continu~ mto th.e 16th, when Senator Charles Sumner, chairman of 
the ~ore1gn Relations Committee, saw fit to announce that he had both 
offi~1al and unofficial information (including a dispatch from the 
Umted States Consul at Vera Cruz) that the French were without 
dou~t evacuating. That ended the matter." Neither Seward nor the 
Pres1den~ seems to have f~lt it necessary to say anything to counter 
the unfnendly speechrnaking, knowing as they must have that the 

. storm from south. of. the border would soon blow O>Ver, and having in 
Sumner a more dn-ect means of silencing the opposition. The senator 
~as no friend of the Administration, but at least some of its intelligence 
Information had been confided to him for that purpose. 

Seward's ability to close out the Mexican affair with firmness and 
surehandedness must have substantially bolstered the Presidential 
p~ti~e, w~ich in that year was at the lowest ebb it has reached in the 
~t1on s ~1story. Had the government's resistanee to the French 
m~rvention been anything but a resounding success, Andrew Johnson 
~1ght well have failed to muster the one-vote margin by which the 
impeachment proceedings again.st him were defeated. · 

Before January ended, the intelligence conveyed by Napoleon's ca­
blegram was supported by details of the French withdrawal received 
from. other sources, one of them an unnamed spy who was sent by 
Shendan to_ the Vera Cruz area and returned with convincing evidence 
of preparations for the embarkation or the army. 41 

Bazaine led the last elements of the French force out of Mexico City 
on February 6. Two weeks later embarkation had begun at Vera 
Cruz, and by March 11 it was complete. 
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Maximilian's regime quickly collapsed. He foolishly bottled up his 
small anny of Mexicans, Austrians and Belgians in Queretaro, a hun­
dred miles northwest of the capital. An agent of Sheridan, with this 
army by permission, late in February reported the Imperialists march­
ing out of Queretaro and driVing the enemy before them, but the offen­
sive was short-lived. Soon Maximilian was back in Quemtaro under 
siege, and on May 19, as a result of treachery by a Mexican Imperialist 
officer related by marriage to Bazaine, the garrison was captured." 

Seward had literally "scolded Napoleon out of Mexico," but if the 
final issue of l'ajfaire M=imilien was a triumph for American diplo­
macy, the fate of the unhappy sovereign himself was a sorry story of 
nonperformance of duty by an American diplomat. After Sherman 
had been excused from further participation in the mission, Minister 
Campbell stationed himself at New Orleans and determinedly resisted 
repeated efforts by Seward to get hin:i into Mexico. In April, when 
it had become plain that the siege of Queretaro would end in the cap­
ture of Maximilian, Seward sent an urgent plea for Maximilian's life, 
instructing Campbell to find J ufu-ez and deliver the message in person. 
It was delivered to the head of the Mexican government not by Camp­
bell, ex-colonel, ex-senator, but by James White, sergeant. Later on, 
such pleas, delivered by a diplomatic Chief of Mission, were heeded, 
but this one was of no avail, and Maximilian lost his life before a firing 
squad at Queretaro on June 19, 1867. Four days earlier, too late to 
affect the fate of the misguided prince, Seward had given Campbell a 
new title: ex-Minister.'° 
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ACOPY, from War Department records, of the 
message to Napoleon III from his commanders 

in Mexico, reporting on the situation there and ask­
ing instructions concerning the evacuation of the Eu­
ropean forces. (The message continues on pages 22 
and 23.) For the English version, see text of pres­
ent article. The French clear text with its success­
ive terms matched against their ass~med code equiv­
alents, appears on pages 109 and 110. 
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THE MESSAGE in which ~eneral She~dan sent 
General Grant the English tran&labori of the 

French Dlessage shown on page 24. The notation . · 
"Recd 280 PM Jn cipher" refers to the decipher­
ment oC the Sheridan-to-Grant message in the War 
Department. Thus it does. not add support to 
Sheridan's aasertion (see page 17) that Napoleon's 
message was sent in cipher. 

The phraae "will not remain there" was a traMla­
tion error. It was C-O~ted to "are. not willing to 
remain" when Sheridan forwarded by mail a con­
firmation copy of bis ·telegram later on January 12. 
"Moet of the fleet bas left" would have been better 
tranAlated "Most of the el&ipa have left." 
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- Notes -
1 At the becinning of the war the government's conception of·military lntelligence 

work was so limited that it employed Allan Pinkerton, by that time well known as 
the head of a •uccessrul detectlVe agency, &8 the chief intelligence operative in .Wash­
ington. Pinkerton proved effect.ive in counter~fntelligenoe work, but his intell{genoe 
estimateo so greatly exagKerated Confederate strength that he is commonly riven a 
large share or tbe blame for the super-caution that caused bis sponsor, General McC!el­
lao, to stay close to Washin&ton with far superior forces. Pinkerton left the service 
with McClellan in 1862, however, and long before the end of the war, competent 
intelligence st:aBs, ·entirely military in character though compoaed or men drawn 
from civil life, oerved the principal headquarters. 

'J. Fred Rippy, The Unittd Stata and M1zico (New York, 1926), p. 261, citin11 
Genaro Y Carlos Pe<eya Garcia, DOCU'1MflltJ• inMilD1 o mur raroo para 1a· hiltoria do 
. M<jir.o (20 vols., Mexico City, 1903), XIV, pp. 8-20. 

'Percy F. Martin, Marimtlian in M<ZUo (London, 1914), pp.170-2SSpaatim. 
. • Philip Guedalla, The Two "?"ora!aala (Lond~n. 19'8), pp. 129-llO. It was charac>­
teristic ol bis recime that R?eat attention was devoted to an imbroglio that developed 

. when Maximilian, in establisblng an official decor:ation, chose a color too close to 
that or the French Legion of Honor. This mishap cauoed a long-drawn-out corres­
pondence between Mexico City and Paris, "bringing into play the lull lntelligence of 
European royalty on the sort of question it could really grasp." (Ibid.) 

' Rippy, "1>· cil., pp. 259-64. On one occasion, when the House unanimously 
passed a provocative!,\' worded re110!ution that would probably have forced Napoleon'• 
hand, Seward coully reminded the French that in this country foreign policy is the 
responsibility ol the Executive rather than the .Legislative department. (Ibid.) 

•Rippy, op. dl., pp. 264-66 and 269-72; Seward to Bi..,low, September 21, 1866. 
· Ali diplomatic correspondence sent or received by United States of!lcials that is cited 

herein will be found in the Pa"PfT8 R•lating ro Frwoi.(lfl Affair• Accompanl/ing tJui An­
nual M ... age of th< Pr...uunt to the First Sesalon, Thirty-Ninth Congresa (coverinr 
the year 1866), Second Session, Thirty-Ninth CollJl11!8S (1866), and Second SeBOion, 
Fortieth Congreos (1867-68). 

'John M. Schofield, Fort!l-Six Y••TB in lilt A""ll (New York, 1897), p. 881; Philip 
H. Sheridan, Pmonal Memoirs (2 vols., New York, 1888), Il, pp. 216-19; Martin, 
op. ctl., p. 432. 

' Dozens of exarnpi.,, ol this inbelligence will be found in the Romero-to.Seward 
correspondence in the Fortiqn Ajfain volumes described io footnote 6. 

1 When a division commander in 1862-631 Sheridan had exercised &D i.nitiative ia 
intelligence collection that was more likely to be found in an army commander. 
His M<moin reveal a constantly high interest in Intelligence activities. 

11 Sberidai;a, ·"P· cil., II, pp. 1-2, l<M-111, 176, 188, and 189; William G. &ymer, 
On Hamrdhuo Sorme (New York and London, 1912), p. 101; Viryil C. Jones, G<a11 
GhocU and &bel R4idm (New York, 1966), pp. 274-340 paaim. 

11 War of rM &bollio1': Official Rectwda of U,,, Unicm and Cunfe<Uro~ Armi<1 (Wash­
ington, lBro--1901), Series I, vol. XLVI, port l, p. 1109. 

"The War of U.. R.ifl<llion Official R<corda contain hundreds of decipherments 
resulting from such interceptlona, cbiefty in the opentloDS of 1863- 66 in Tennessee 
and Georgia, the operations along the South Carolina coast beginrung in 1863, and 
the Richmond-Petersburg siege ol ll!M--66. 

"Sheridan, "P· cit., ll, p. 214. Young was killed in 1866 leading a band ol men 
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that ..; .. serving as a bodycuard for a Liberal general whom Sheridan was helping to 
return to Mexico. (Sheridan, op. t:il., II, PP, 221-22.) 

" ·See, for example, intelligence reports aent by Sheridan to Grant.: March 27, May 
7, June 24, July 3, and July.18, 1866. Except where otherwise indicated, all Army 
correspondence cited hereafter in this article will be found in the United States Na-
tional Archives. · 

" Guedalla, op. cil., p . ISO. 
II Ibid., p. 112. 
••Seward to de Montholon, April 26, 1866, conlinnlng an April 6 communication 

from the French Foreign Minister; Seward to J. Lothrop Motley (United Stateo 
Minister to Austria), April 6, 16, SO, May S, 30, 1866; Motley to Seward, April 6, 
May 1, 6, 16, 21, 1866; James M. Callahan, Amerioan Fornvn PolicJI in Moricon 
Rdati01'I (New York, 1982), p. 285. 

11 Sheridan to Grant, May 7, 1866; Bigelow to Seward, May 31, 1866 . 
11 Martin, op. cit., pp. 291-246 piluim. 

"Sheridan to Grant, July 21, 1866; Martin, op. eil., pp. 266-267 and 272-273. 
11 Castelnan to Napoleon, December 8, 1866, quoted in Georges A. M. Girard,La 

Vii et lu B<>UDtttin duGWral Caatoll\Qu (Paris, 1930), pp. 112-124; MarOWI Otterbourg 
(United States charg~ d'affai- in Mexico) to Seward, December 29, 1866; Martin, 
op. tit., pp. 298-99: Lewis D. Campbell (United Stateo.Minister to Mexico) to Seward, 
November 21. 1866. · 

" De Moustier (Foreign Minister) to de Montholon (Minister to the United States), 
October 16, 1886, in Forei(lfl Affairs; Bill'!low to Seward, November 8, 1866; Martin, 
11p. cil., pp. 66-67; Guedalla,.op. t:il., p. 133; Girard, op. cil., p. 122. 

"Romero to Seward, October 10, 1866. 
" De Moustier to de Montholon, October 16, 1866, in For•ign. Affairs (1866), I, 

pp. 387-88. 
u Bigelow to Seward, November 8, 1866. 

" Martin, op. cil., p. 66. A famous Rustrian diplomat said of Napoleon, "He is 
constantly thrusting a thousand-franc note into one"e palm to commit BOme infamy 
or other." (Martin, "P· cit., p. 482.) 

"Seward to Bill"low, November 23, 1866; Duter Perkioa, The Monroe Doclrine, 
1826-1867.(Baltimore, 1933), p. 634 ; Bigelow to Seward, December 3, 1866. 

" Seward'• instructions to Campbell, dated October 25, 1866, are perhaps the ·most 
impressive ol the numeroua masterful documents produced by the Secretary in the 
Mexican affair. Grant was the President's first selection aa the military member or 
the mil9ion and wao excused only alter a number ol uriient requests. Correspondence 
relating to the inception o! the mission includes: Andrew Johnson to E. M. Stanton, 
October 26 and 30; Grant to Shennan (at St. Louis), October 20 and 22; Grant to 
Joboaon, October 21; Grant to Johnson, October SO, and Grant to Stanton, October 
27; Sherman to Grant, November .3 (Sherman MSS, Library of Congres.s), and Grant 
to Sheridan, November 4. 

"Campbell to Seward, November 21, 1866; unaddressed, unsigned military intel­
lil[Once report dated at Washington, November 18. 

n Girard, e>p. cit., pp. 117-18. 

" N<W Ytwk llorald, Dl!cember 7, 1866, p. 4, col. S; Blgefow to Seward, November 
30, 1866; Morgan Dix, Memoirs of John Ada1118 DU: (2 vols., N~w York, 1883), II, 

. · p. 160; Dix to Seward, December U, 1866. 
11 Sherman to Grant, December 1 and 7, 1866. Sherman, despite bis reputation 
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for hard-headedness, was liot one of those who favored military action by the United 
States in Mexico. He wrote Grant, "I feel u bittier as you do about this meddling 
of Napoleon, but we can bide our time and not punish ourselves by picking up a bur­
den [the French) can'.t afford to carry." 

"New Yorlc Herald, Januarj 8, 1867; New York Eoening Poot, January 8, 1867; 
Frederick W. Seward, ReminiacenCA of a War-time Sum.man and Diplomlii (New 
York and Londo·n, 1916), pp. 848-55. Seward's project, a very closely.kept secret, 
was the acquisition of a harbor in San Domingo. A treaty was lat.er concluded but 
buried by the Senatie. 

"Robert Luther Thompson, Wiring a Continent (Princeton, 1947), pp. 299-301, 
319-20, 823, 483-84; S. A. Garnham and Robert L. Hadfield, TM Submarin• Cablo 
(London, 1984), pp. 19-40. The cable laying was the only succees in the lonr career 
ol the leviathan Greaj Easurn, which b"'nkruptied a succession of owners as a pasaen­
ger and cargo ship, as an exhibition ship, and finally as a gigantic di~tling and 
68lvaging operation. Its story is told by James Duran in TM Gr6'" Iron Ship (New 
York, 1953). 

"Correspondence !rom August I to December 10, 1866, has been examined for ev­
idence of such instructions. Sheridan's papers in the Library of Coni1'0S9 appeo.r to 
be incompletie !or this period. 

" From an unaddressed official statement signed by Sheridan December 8, 1877 
(oic). William R. Plum, TM Milito.111 T•legraph Dvring the Cillil War in the United 
Stal•• (2 vols., Chicago, 1882), pp. 848 and 357, is authority !or the information on 
KeEifer'a nationality. 

" Plum, op. oil., II, pp. 345-48, describes the transition ol the telegraph lines lrom 
military to civilian operation. The information regarding Eckert is taken from War 
Department records !or 1866 and 1867, which contain frequent cipher tielegrams to 
Secretary Stanton from Eckert in New York; some ol these messages.bear daties sub­
sequent to Eckert's resignation lrom the Department. 

u From Sheridan's statement ol December 8, 1877, and his Memoire, vol. II, 
p. 226. 

"Bigelow to Seward, November 30, 1866. 
" This message has not been found by the writer in either French or Unltied States 

records. 
"This message and the French version of the January 10 measage are filed with 

telegrams sent lrom the military headquarters at New Orleans during the yeo.ra 1864-
69. This filing is clearly in error, for the mess&Kt!• are foreign to the rest of the ma­
terial in this file and they bear none ol the marks that an operator would have placed 
on them had he transmitted them to Washington. War Department and Army 
Headquarters records do not show their receipt. 

" Besides the government recorda cited elsewhere, the following coilections have 
been searched for such evidence: the Andrew Johnson Papen, the Sheridan Papen, 
the Grant Papers, and the Edwin M. Stanton Papers, all in the Manuscripts. Divi­
sion, Library ol Congress, and the contemporary correspondence between the War 
Department and ·state Department in the National Archives. Despite the extreme 
improbability that the message contents were obtained by crYJ>tanalysis, this search 
took account ol the possibility that the developments reported in the message were 
learned by other means. 

41 What appears to be a representative if not a complete account of the few-and­
far-between cryptanalytic experiences of these men is given by David Homer Bates 
in Lincoln in tho T•legraph Office (New York, 1907), pp. 68-85, who was in the War 
Department telegraph and cipher office throughout the Civil Wu. The inlre-· 
quency of such activity was plainly the result of the difficulty in obtaining intercepts 
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(except at the front, where the traffic intercepted was almost always visual). All the 
cryptanalytic episodes reported by Bates involved interceptied courier and mail dis­
patches rather than messages obtained by wiretapping. 

u Plum, op. cit., I, pp. 36-39. 

" From Sheridan's statement of December 8, 1877, cited above. . 
'' Se~ard to Minister Berthemy, January 21, 1866 (memorandum of conversation 

o! January 17). 
"Congrenio11a!Globe, January 16, 1867. 
"Sheridan to J. A. Rawlins (Chief of Staff to Grant), January 4, 1867. The ordi­

nary period for tranemittal of mail would have caUBed this dispatch to arrive in 
Washin(ton perhaps a week later than the January 10 telegram from Paris via New 
Orleans. · 

" Martin, op. cit., pp. 296-97 and 308-09; unsigned letter to Sheridan from his 
agent in Quer~taro, February 26, 1867. 

•• N.,. York Horald, December 7, 1866; Seward to Campbell, December 25, 1866, 
January 2, 8, 23, April 6, June 1, 6, 8, 11, 15, 1867; Campbell to Seward, De®Dber 
24, 1866, January 2, 7, February 9, March 12, JuM 3, 6, 10, 16, and 16, 1867; Martin, 
op. cit., pp. 899-412; Sheridan, op. cit., 11, p. 227. 
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